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MEMBERSHIP PATTERNS, 1808–1875

A glance through the list of new Chapel members and their street addresses is instructive. Under Christopher Anderson, almost all the members were converts of his ministry; this was his policy. Some joined the Chapel on coming to Edinburgh from Glasgow, Fife and Stirling and one from Leamington, but only two transferred from another church in Edinburgh and that was late in his ministry. 

Another aspect of membership under Christopher Anderson was that he gathered people from all over the city, especially from the southern part where his work had begun. 

However, under the ministries of Alfred Thomas and James Martin, between 1851 and 1858, transfers to the Chapel were accepted from every other Baptist church in Edinburgh – Bristo Street, Elder Street, Richmond Street and the Tabernacle. As many of their addresses were around the West End of Edinburgh, it may have been the commendable desire to support the nearest Baptist church rather than disaffection with their original church, but other new members travelled from Leith, Portobello, Marchmont, Newington, Saughtonhall, Tollcross and even Haddington, passing Baptist churches on the way. 

The years from 1859 to 1866 have a different pattern again. Transfer to the Chapel from other Edinburgh churches almost ceased. Over these years, 145 joined, only two by inter-city transfers. Whether this reflected active discouragement by William Chapman and John Dovey, or whether their ministries did not tempt those in other churches, is not known, but the former is more likely because dozens of Baptists coming to Edinburgh from Eday in Orkney in the north to Falmouth in Cornwall in the south, and from Dundee in the east to Dublin in the west, flocked to join their ‘local church’ in the centre of the city.

The other feature of this decade is the number who joined ‘on profession of faith’. The church register was ruled with three columns for the three methods of joining the Chapel – baptism, transfer from another Baptist church, and ‘profession’. One example was a woman who had been baptized in the Chapel but who felt it right to keep her membership in her home Free Church of Scotland until her marriage to a Chapel man two years later. She then joined the Chapel ‘by experience’. This was classified as ‘profession of faith’ and accounts for a large proportion of the members received today. It now covers: (1) those who have been baptized elsewhere, at some stage, but who are not (now) members of another church, and (2) those from other denominations, where a ‘certificate of transfer’ (from another Baptist church) is not appropriate. However, in the first 50 years of Charlotte Chapel, this column was hardly ever used – only four in the first two hundred entries. This category suddenly became popular in 1859, when 15 were accepted ‘by experience’ and the column was used regularly over the next few years.

The ministry of Christopher Bunning, between 1867 and 1872, was different yet again. As under the previous two pastors, there were almost no transfers from other Edinburgh churches, but far exceeding the number of those converted and baptized (87) were transfers from Baptist churches all over Scotland (167), as people left outlying parts to seek employment in the metropolis. The church register for these five years reads like a gazetteer of Scotland – Aberdeen, Anstruther, Cupar, Dunbar, Dundee, Glasgow, Keiss, Kirkcaldy, Montrose, the Orkney Islands, Perth, Scarfskerry, St Andrews, Stirling and Wick, together with the first transfers from overseas, with two soldiers posted to the Castle from Bombay and another member joining from Rangoon. 

Patterns varied, however, from year to year. Of the 45 new members in 1871, almost all lived locally, within easy walking distance, more so than at any other time in the Chapel’s history. There were only four exceptions. One man lived in Davidsons Mains, then a separate village on the west of Edinburgh. A woman who lived in Leith Walk joined the Chapel in September 1871, but transferred to the Leith Baptist Church in January 1875, at the onset of her fourth winter in membership, because ‘the distance to Charlotte Chapel was too great’. A married couple, whose address was ‘Oakbank Oil Works, Mid Calder’, transferred from the Bath Street Church in Glasgow – the first of what we now call ‘commuter members’, those who live at a considerable distance from Edinburgh but who regarded the Chapel as their church and who attend it regularly. 

